
CITY OF NORTH SALT LAKE 

PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING 

FEBRUARY 26, 2019 

 

FINAL 

 

Commission Chair Ted Knowlton called the meeting to order at 6:35 p.m. and Stephen Garn led 

those present in the Pledge of Allegiance. 

 

PRESENT: Commission Chair Ted Knowlton 

  Commissioner Stephen Garn 

  Commissioner Kent Kirkham 

  Commissioner William Ward 

  Commissioner Brandon Tucker 

  Commissioner BreAnna Larson 

  Commissioner Natalie Gordon 

 

STAFF PRESENT: Sherrie Llewelyn, Community Development Director; Kate Werrett, 

Planning Technician; Andrea Bradford, Minutes Secretary. 

 

OTHER PRESENT: Milt Buhrman, Vickie Buhrman, Caralyn Bingham, Wendy Mele, Melissa 

Adams, Jon Powers, Lee Stuart, Colleen Stuart, Reuben Wolsey, Kelly Jones, Stan Porter, Alisa 

VanLangeveld, Chris Jones, Kelly James, Larry Pontarelli, David Finkley, Laura Knowlton, 

Mark Lee, Dustin Gramoll, residents; Taylor Spendlove, Brighton Development; Shay Bertola, 

Rick Rapp, Maverik, Inc.; Steve Condie. 

 

1. PUBLIC COMMENTS 

 

There were no public comments. 

 

2. PUBLIC HEARING-CONSIDERATION OF A PLAT AMENDMENT FOR THE 

NORTH SALT LAKE INDUSTRIAL PARK SUBDIVISION PLAT A, AT 24 NORTH 

REDWOOD ROAD, MAVERIK INC., APPLICANT 

 

Sherrie Llewelyn reported that the proposed amendment would divide existing lots 1 and 2 into 

three lots in the North Salt Lake Industrial Park plat A. The property located at the corner of 

Redwood Road and Center Street was currently zoned General Commercial (CG). The two 

existing lots run north to south and the proposed amendment would change the line to an east to 

west orientation. Proposed lot 1A would be 6.58 acres and contain the current use by Mobile 

Mini, lot 2A would be 4.92 acres and occupied by the proposed Maverik. The final lot 3A would 

be 1.60 acres and consist of the existing truck shop building occupied by Schneider Trucking.    



City of North Salt Lake 

Planning Commission Meeting 

February 26, 2019 

Page 2  

 

The current zoning of the property is General Commercial (CG) with a minimum lot size of one 

acre with a minimum width of 100 feet and 65 feet of frontage. All three of the proposed lots 

meet the minimum lot size in the zone.  

 

Under the current City Subdivision ordinance, plat amendments required a public hearing, 

although they are not required by state code. No public right of way or public easement would be 

affected by the proposed amendment to the plat.  

 

The Development Review Committee (DRC) recommended approval with the condition that any 

engineering redlines be completed after city engineer review. 

 

Chair Knowlton opened the public hearing at 6:39 p.m. There were no public comments 

and he closed the public hearing at 6:40 p.m.  

 

Shay Bertola, Maverik Inc., commented that they were in agreement with everything in the staff 

report. 

 

Commissioner Larson moved that the Planning Commission recommend approval to the 

City Council of the plat amendment for North Salt Lake Industrial Park Subdivision, Plat 

A at 24 North Redwood Road with the following condition: 

 

1) Completion of Engineering Redlines, if any. 

 

Commissioner Garn seconded the motion. The motion was approved by Commissioners 

Knowlton, Garn, Kirkham, Ward, Tucker, Larson and Gordon. 

 

3. CONSIDERATION OF A SITE PLAN FOR MAVERIK INC. AT 24 NORTH 

REDWOOD ROAD, MAVERIK, INC., APPLICANT 

 

Sherrie Llewelyn reported that the Maverik would be located on future lot 2A of the North Salt 

Lake Industrial Plat A. The lot would be 4.92 acres in size with access from Redwood Road and 

Center Street for passenger vehicles, and Center Street and 700 West for semi-trucks. She 

presented an aerial of the proposed site plan to those present and showed that the entrance to the 

store would face Redwood Road, the location of the fuel islands for passenger cars would be 

located adjacent to Redwood Road and the fuel islands for semi-trucks would be located behind 

the store on Center Street. The site also contains a sewer dump station and truck scale. The 

proposed gas station would be owned and operated by Maverik and would be 6,270 square feet 

in size. The passenger vehicle island would have a total of 14 pumps. The truck fueling island  

will have 8 pumps. There would be entrances to the store at the front, rear, and side of the 

building.  

 



City of North Salt Lake 

Planning Commission Meeting 

February 26, 2019 

Page 3  

 

The applicant proposed 69 parking spaces plus one parking space per each fuel station which 

exceeded the minimum parking requirement of 32 spaces. The applicant explained that this 

would be one of their largest Maverik stores. 

 

The total landscaping would be 40,627 square feet or 18.9% which exceeded the 10% minimum 

requirement. Improvements to the site included a sidewalk on Redwood Road including 

landscaping with required street trees, sod, and shrub areas. Mrs. Llewelyn explained that due to 

an underground storm detention and 65 foot easement, which was owned by Davis County, that 

landscaping along Redwood Road would be 40 foot wide l which exceeds the 24 foot landscape 

requirement. A landscape buffer of between 9 and 22 feet will be along the north property line 

between the site and the mobile mini business. 

 

Sherrie Llewelyn then reported that Maverik would own the Schneider’s Trucking building. In 

the future, when that property was leased or sold, there would be several requirements for a site 

plan approval including: that the landscaping be continued along Center Street to 700 West, that 

detention and parking be required, and a new driveway entrance be established off of Center 

Street.  

 

The applicant was proposing four driveways on site. The first driveway off Redwood Road 

would be 50 feet in width and required some widening on Redwood Road which also requires 

final approval with UDOT. This may also include an approximate 3 foot widening and relocation 

of existing power poles to accommodate a deceleration lane. The east driveway is located across 

from the new 750 West street in the G&G subdivision and is 50 feet in width to accommodate 

trucks and RVs. There are three driveways, which exceed the maximum 40 foot width, and the 

addition of the second driveway onto Center Street requires approval by the Planning 

Commission as a conditional use.  

 

Mrs. Llewelyn explained that in order to have a second driveway on Center Street the applicant 

must have approval as conditional use and must have over 400 feet of frontage, which the 

property has. The DRC recommended approval of the second driveway to facilitate the 

separation of passenger vehicle traffic and truck traffic. Additionally the existing driveway on 

700 West, which is currently shared by Schneider and Mobile Mini, will be widened to 45 feet to 

be used exclusively by lots 2A and 3A. A new driveway would need to be added to the Mobile 

Mini site on lot 1A. The current plan showed a driveway separation of 12 feet so this would need 

to be amended as these two driveways would be required to be separated by a minimum distance 

of 16 feet.  

 

Lighting on the site would utilize cutoff type heads that direct light down and onto the site. The 

existing chain-link fence surrounding the Schneider building would remain but the fencing along 

Center Street would be required to be upgraded to an approved material at the time of site plan 

amendment for lot 2A. Per the newly adopted fencing ordinance the fence along the north 



City of North Salt Lake 

Planning Commission Meeting 

February 26, 2019 

Page 4  

 

property line from the front right of way line to the point adjacent to the front façade of the 

building would need to be modified to a material other than chain-link.  

 

The proposed signage included two 30 foot pole signs with one to be located on the corner of 

Redwood Road and Center and the second at the passenger vehicle entrance from Center Street. 

The S-3 overlay zone allows one freestanding pole sign with a maximum height of 45’ feet and a 

maximum sign face of 200 square feet per face and one monument sign with a 200 square foot 

sign face. The Planning Commission would need to approve the allowance of two pole signs in 

lieu of one pole sign and one monument sign. The signage on the canopy structures and the 

building are limited to 15% of the available wall space and would be permitted via a standard 

sign permit. 

 

The site will also contain an enclosed dumpster area, outdoor seating area, and pedestrian 

walkways from the sidewalk along Redwood Road. The applicant would be required to paint 

crosswalks on Center Street and Redwood Road with UDOT approval.  

 

Sherrie Llewelyn presented examples of the proposed architecture and the materials that would 

be used. The architecture meets the design guidelines for parapet height and materials. She also 

showed the elevation for the canopies and the floorplan for the store.  

  

The DRC recommended approval with six conditions including widening the distance between 

the driveways on 700 West, modifying the fencing along the north property line from chain-link, 

that two pole signs be permitted, the conditional use for the additional drive on Center Street and 

driveway width be approved with the finding of improved safety, completion of any redlines, and 

completion and recordation of North Salt Lake Industrial plat amendment. 

 

Shay Bertola, Maverik Inc., commented that this would be one of the largest Maverik stores and 

would have a Bonfire Grill. He said that this store was designed to accommodate passenger cars 

in the front area and semi-truck traffic in the rear portion of the store which was why they were 

requesting wider driveways.  

 

Commissioner Garn asked for clarification that the 14 passenger car pumps could fuel 28 cars at 

one time. Shay Bertola replied that this was correct.  

 

Chair Knowlton asked in regards to the long term plan for the existing adjacent Maverik. Shay 

Bertola responded that they had adjacent stores in other locations and would continue to operate 

both stores at this time.  

 

Commissioner Tucker asked why there was a need for two pole signs. Shay Bertola replied that 

as this was essentially a two part store that they would like two signs for visibility in the front 

and the rear.  

 



City of North Salt Lake 

Planning Commission Meeting 

February 26, 2019 

Page 5  

 

Commissioner Gordon commented that the Maverik headquarters used to be in the City and the 

Commission allowed for a setback waiver at that time. She expressed concern that if Maverik 

sold the existing store that it may be less marketable due to the reduced setbacks.  

Commissioner Kirkham commented that the City was excited to see improvement to the corner 

property.   

 

Chair Knowlton asked if there would be bike parking on the site. Sherrie Llewelyn replied that it 

is included. 

 

Commissioner Tucker questioned whether the suggested offset from lot 1A would decrease the 

driveway width or if the driveway should be shifted south. Sherrie Llewelyn replied that the 

applicant may have to split the difference but would need to reengineer this. She explained that 

this was a standard in the City ordinance. 

 

Shay Bertola asked in regards to the condition related to the proposed fencing along the north 

property line and if the approved fencing material could be vinyl. Sherrie Llewelyn clarified that 

it could be any material but chain-link. 

 

Sherrie Llewelyn then addressed Commissioner Gordon’s question related to the northwest 

setback of the existing Maverik. She said that the building behind the existing Maverik had 

already been sold and that the shorter setback did not affect that sale. 

 

Commissioner Garn moved that the Planning Commission approve the site plan for 

Maverik at 24 North Redwood Road with the following conditions: 

 

1) The distance between the driveway on 700 west between the site and lot 1A be 

increased from 12 feet to 16 feet: 

2) The proposed fencing along the north property line be modified from chain-link for 

an approximate distance of 164 feet to the front facade of the store with an 

approved material; 

3) Two pole signs shall be permitted in lieu of one pole sign and one monument sign; 

4) The conditional use for the additional drive on Center Street and the additional 

driveway width are approved by the Planning Commission with a finding of 

improved safety for vehicles and commercial vehicles; 

5) Completion of any outstanding engineering redlines; 

6) Completion and recordation of the North Salt Lake Industrial Park Plat A-

Amendment. 

 

Commissioner Kirkham seconded the motion.  

 

Chair Knowlton suggested that the applicant maintain the sign requirement for one pole sign and 

one monument sign. Commissioners Kirkham, Garn, Larson and Ward were in favor of two pole 



City of North Salt Lake 

Planning Commission Meeting 

February 26, 2019 

Page 6  

 

signs. Commissioners Knowlton, Tucker and Gordon preferred one pole sign and one monument 

sign.  

 

Shay Bertola commented that they would prefer two poles but could work with staff on the 

location of the pole sign and the monument sign if they were required to make this decision. He 

said that the two poles were to signify both the passenger car and the semi-truck entrances.  

Chair Knowlton asked for clarification on the square footage and the allowable height of the 

monument sign. Sherrie Llewelyn replied that the square footage was 200 square feet for the pole 

or monument sign but that both were limited to the same height restriction. She explained that 

the monument sign would have more of an impact on the clear view of the driveways. 

 

Commissioner Gordon asked if staff could make updating the sign ordinance a priority. 

 

The motion was approved by Commissioners Knowlton, Garn, Kirkham, Ward, Tucker, 

Larson and Gordon. 

 

4. CONSIDERATION OF A GENERAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN FOR ORCHARD 

GROVE LOCATED AT 378 EAST ODELL LANE, BRIGHTON DEVELOPMENT, 

APPLICANT 

 

Chair Knowlton commented that the public hearing for this item was held several weeks ago. He 

said that even though no public hearing was required for this meeting that the Commission 

would hear public comment on the revised plan. Chair Knowlton explained that the Planning 

Commission was not the final decision maker and that this item would go before the City 

Council. 

 

Sherrie Llewelyn reported that the proposed development was located at 378 East Odell Lane 

and was the corner lot adjacent to Orchard Drive. The 1.24 acre lot currently consists of a single 

family home and fruit trees. She then showed the previous concept plan and spoke on the 

changes compared to the updated plan. The new plan still showed 24 units, one access point, a 

smaller dog park, an additional tot lot area, and additional driveway parking. Other changes 

included the layout of the buildings with two buildings, housing units 101-109, to face Orchard 

Drive. A pedestrian access way was added through the property to Orchard Drive. The previous 

eight unit building that faced west has been split into two buildings, units 119-124, each with 

three units facing a courtyard area. The remaining nine units have been reconfigured into two 

buildings along the south property line, each with front entry garages and private rear yard/patio 

areas. The units along Orchard would still be 2 ½ stories tall with internal units 3 stories tall. 

 

The total parking for the development would be 71 spaces or 2.95 spaces per unit. This exceeds 

the standard parking requirement of 2.25 spaces per unit. The proposed concept plan shows a 

four foot park strip and new five foot sidewalk on Orchard Drive. The previous landscape plan 

proposed 27.2% or 14,810 square feet and the revised concept shows 32.8% or 17,859 square 



City of North Salt Lake 

Planning Commission Meeting 

February 26, 2019 

Page 7  

 

feet with a new tot lot area. Based upon data received from the Davis County School District 

townhome developments generate few school age children so the tot lot should be sized for 

younger children, as families tend to move into single family detached homes when children 

enter school age. 

 

The existing chain-link fencing along Orchard Drive would be removed and the Planning 

Commission would need to determine whether the existing wooden fencing on the south 

property line could remain or if it would need to be replaced. The small dog park area would be 

fenced with a four foot high semi-private fencing material.  

 

The developer submitted two proposals for the architecture of the buildings. The first option had 

three stories and flat roofs while the second had pitched roofs. The buildings would be brick and 

stucco with hardie board trim. 

 

Chair Knowlton opened the meeting to public comment at 7:16 p.m. 

 

 Mark Lee, 450 East 100 North, expressed concerns with traffic including pedestrian safety, 

access and the increased number of vehicles. He said that Orchard Drive was currently two lanes 

and asked about future plans to widen the road to four lanes in the future based on the Winegar 

and Orchard Grove redevelopment projects. Mr. Lee also asked about snow removal and storage 

on Orchard and Odell as the road was very narrow.  

 

David Finkley, 265 East 50 South, said that the proposed development and other condos and 

townhomes did not blend in with the feel of the neighborhood. He also said that the other 

developments were stone, the homes were brick and that the proposed buildings would be stucco. 

Mr. Finkley said he would like to see more cohesiveness with the rest of the neighborhood and 

recommended brick or another more durable material for the building exteriors. 

 

Collen Stuart, 341 Odell Lane, commented that this road was not meant to accommodate a large 

amount of traffic. She suggested that the proposed development remain RM-7 and that 8-10 units 

be built as this would respect the existing neighborhood and would not cause a large increase in 

traffic or safety issues. Ms. Stuart said that while Utah was fast growing the setback from 

Orchard was too small and this could cause issues with emergency vehicle access and on street 

parking. 

 

Caralyn Bingham, 1053 Manchester Drive, said that she lives in the Foxboro Townhomes and 

based on her experience inadequate visitor parking led to on-street parking. She commented that 

six visitor parking stalls were not enough for this development. 

 

Chair Knowlton asked if on-street parking was prohibited on Odell Lane. Sherrie Llewelyn 

replied that on-street parking was allowed on one side of the street. She said that in the areas 

were the road was widened that parking would be allowed on both sides of the street. 



City of North Salt Lake 

Planning Commission Meeting 

February 26, 2019 

Page 8  

 

Chris Jones, 107 Osborne Circle, said that he felt this development was a monstrosity compared 

to what was currently there. He also commented that too much accommodation was given to 

developers and not enough consideration was given to residents especially when zoning was 

changed. 

 

Laura Knowlton, 329 Elm Avenue, commented that the root of the issue was changing the 

zoning. She said that zoning was put in place to maintain the integrity of neighborhoods and 

while the landowner had a right to sell their property it should not be at the expense of the 

neighbors or the community. Ms. Knowlton also said that the developer did not make a good 

faith effort to make changes after the public hearing as they only reduced the parking and not the 

number of units. 

 

Jon Powers, 332 Odell Lane, spoke on the property dispute he had with the current landowners, 

the Christensen Family Trust. He said he reached out to Taylor Spendlove and was told that it 

would need to be resolved with the current landowner. Mr. Powers said he filed a lawsuit and 

that any plans submitted before the lawsuit was resolved would not be representative of what 

would be built based on the potential property line change. He also said that the residents had 

asked for fewer units to be built which would potentially solve his problems as well. 

 

Vickie Buhrman, 8 North Valley View Drive, said that she was a representative of the 

Christensen Family Trust. She explained that they were never asked to talk to Jon and now he 

wanted more land but that these issues were not related to this development. 

 

Chair Knowlton closed the public comment at 7:33 p.m. 

 

Commissioner Garn commented on the revised plan and said he was disappointed that no units 

were removed. He said that if four units were eliminated this would help to relieve several issues 

including parking, density, etc. Commissioner Garn also said he was in favor of the flatter roof 

design. 

 

Commissioner Ward said that he felt it was implied from the discussion that the developer would 

bring back a plan with fewer units and he was disappointed that there were still 24 units 

proposed.  

 

Commissioner Larson agreed with the other commissioners and said the plan only showed a 

reconfiguration of the buildings and not fewer units. 

 

Commissioner Tucker said his concern was with the amount of parking. He said that the layout 

was better but less units and more parking would be favorable. 

 

Commissioner Kirkham asked how many units would be allowed in the current RM-7 zoning. 

Sherrie Llewelyn replied that only 12.5 units would be allowed in the RM-7 zone. 



City of North Salt Lake 

Planning Commission Meeting 

February 26, 2019 

Page 9  

 

Commissioner Gordon expressed concern with the amount and distribution of the visitor parking 

and that the rear units were too close together. 

 

Taylor Spendlove, Brighton Development, said that after the previous discussion that there were 

several things they incorporated into the development including balconies and backyard spaces 

on some of the units, interior sidewalks, and the addition of the tot lot. He apologized and stated 

that he did not hear or understand that the Planning Commission wanted him to reduce the 

number of units. He suggested that additional driveways could be added to free up the visitor 

parking, that the setbacks on Odell could be increased by six feet, and that the HOA could 

restrict who parked in the visitor stalls as well as requiring that the garages only be used for 

parking and not storage.  

 

Commissioner Gordon expressed support for six duplexes consisting of 12 units. She said she 

would support a P District with increased density of 16 units per acre for a total of 20 units and 

more guest parking but felt the proposed plan was too dense.  

 

Commissioner Garn commented on the rear yard patios and asked if this was more important 

than a driveway for additional parking.  

 

Commissioner Ward asked if the Planning Commission set a cap at 20 units and the preference 

for redesigning and resubmitting the development. Taylor Spendlove replied that if the limit was 

set at 20 units they would eliminate units 115-118 and add additional open space and parking. He 

said the layout would remain the same, minus those four units, as framing Orchard Drive would 

provide a nice feel.  

 

Chair Knowlton commented that the units with tandem garages would potentially utilize the 

visitor parking more than the other units. Taylor Spendlove replied that if the four units were 

removed there would no longer be tandem garages. 

 

The Commission then discussed pitched or gabled roofs versus flat roofs and the potential height 

difference. Commissioner Gordon was in favor of the pitched roof and Commissioner Knowlton 

was in favor of a pitched roof with the gable facing the street. Sherrie Llewelyn responded that 

the maximum roof height was 35 feet regardless of the style. She suggested removing unit 109 

and placing two four-plex buildings along Orchard Drive with side by side two car garages. 

 

Taylor Spendlove said he would prefer that the Planning Commission recommend approval of 

the proposed layout with a unit cap.  

 

The Commission then discussed the zone change. Chair Knowlton said that the P District would 

allow for more control over the design, parking and the curb expansion and setbacks. He said 

that while there was an affordable housing challenge in Utah that the project needed to fit the 

neighborhood. 



City of North Salt Lake 

Planning Commission Meeting 

February 26, 2019 

Page 10  

 

Commissioner Tucker asked if this area was part of the Town Center master plan area. Sherrie 

Llewelyn showed the town center area map in juxtaposition to the proposed development. It was 

determined that this development would be outside of the Town Center area. 

 

The Commission discussed leaving the property zoned RM-7 or reducing the number of units by 

four to eight units with the majority of the Commissioners preferring fewer units. 

 

Commissioner Garn asked about the price difference between the units with tandem compared to 

side by side garages. Taylor Spendlove replied that the tandem units had less square footage so 

they would be less expensive. He explained that as profit margins were shrinking they could not 

build single family homes less expensive than $600,000. 

 

Commissioner Larson asked the applicant what the minimum unit number would be for this 

project before Brighton was no longer interested. Taylor Spendlove replied that the number was 

dependent on the property owners and the purchase price. He said he would like to work with the 

City versus receiving denial of the project and asked that the item be tabled. 

 

Commissioner Gordon said her proposed motion would be for 16 units with no tandem parking 

and three parking spaces per unit which included guest parking.  

 

Chair Knowlton asked about the parking requirement for single family home. Sherrie Llewelyn 

replied that the requirement was two garage/covered spaces. She said the requirement for the 

RM-7 zone was 2.25 spaces. 

 

Sherrie Llewelyn suggested that the Commission table this item with specific directions for the 

developer to redesign the project. 

 

Chair Knowlton asked the Commission for their informal vote on reducing the unit count to 16 

and all the Commissioners voted in approval except Commissioner Tucker. Commissioner 

Tucker commented that due to the housing shortage and the proximity to Salt Lake he would 

prefer 20 units for this development.   

 

Taylor Spendlove commented that the price range for the units would be driven by current 

market conditions, the allowed density, and labor/land costs. 

 

The Commission then informally voted on a development with 20 units with three parking 

spaces per unit and no tandem garages. Three commissioners were in favor of 20 units but the 

majority vote was for 16 units. 

 

Taylor Spendlove said they would try to keep the same streetscape with the frontage on Orchard 

Drive. 

 



City of North Salt Lake 

Planning Commission Meeting 

February 26, 2019 

Page 11  

 

Commissioner Gordon moved to table the item. Commissioner Ward seconded the motion.  

The motion was approved by Commissioners Knowlton, Garn, Kirkham, Ward, Tucker, 

Larson and Gordon. 

 

5. CONSIDERATION OF AN AMENDMENT TO THE CITY CODE SECTION 10-1-45, 

SHORT TERM RENTAL REGULATIONS 

 

Sherrie Llewelyn reported that this amendment was drafted last October and would address 

issues related to the increasing popularity of vacation/short term rentals (STR). The City 

currently did not regulate short term rentals; however, there had been a focus statewide for cities 

to address and legally allow these rentals. The proposed amendment included the following 

changes: allow STRs with a permit, owner occupancy would be required at least half of the year, 

limit the number of people the unit could be rented to, would allow only one STR per property, 

accessory dwelling units (ADUs) may be rented 365 days per year, require a parking plan and off 

street parking, provide methods for the City to contact property owners in an emergency, notify 

owners of requirements for maintenance and snow removal, require posting of certain 

information for renters, and provide penalties for violations of STR regulations and other 

ordinances. She also said that the Commission’s changes related to the number of related 

occupants from a previous meeting had been made.  

 

Commissioner Gordon commented on amendment three which limited the number of people that 

a unit may be rented to four unrelated individuals and up to 8 family members and said that it 

may be better to let the market determine this rather than determining if people were related or 

not. Sherrie Llewelyn said City ordinance defined a family as up to four unrelated individuals 

and that the property owner would specify this in their rental listing.   

 

Commissioner Ward said that the City was probably not a desirable location for large bachelor 

parties or similar groups looking for a short term rentals and asked if the requirement limiting 

unrelated individuals would cause issues for residents.  

 

Chair Knowlton asked if there should be a penalty for a noise violation rather than the 

requirement to limit the number of unrelated individuals or family members. Commissioner 

Gordon asked if there was provisions in place which would lead to a homeowner losing their 

STR permit. 

 

Sherrie Llewelyn commented that if the homeowner violated any of the statues or City 

ordinances including the noise or nuisance ordinance they would be at risk of a fine and losing 

their STR permit.  

 

The Commission determined that the amendment to limit the number of people that a unit may 

be rented to four unrelated individuals and up to 8 family members be removed. 

 



City of North Salt Lake 

Planning Commission Meeting 

February 26, 2019 

Page 12  

 

The Commission also discussed the amendment related to requiring owner occupancy for a 

minimum of 183 calendar days per year. They discussed flexibility and that less government 

control might be better in regards to STRs. Sherrie Llewelyn replied that this item was related to 

the character of a single family neighborhood.  

 

Commissioner Ward moved to approve the proposed code amendments for short term 

rentals with the following changes: 

 

1) Elimination on page 2 line 49-51 4B “maximum renter occupancy shall be no more 

than four (4) unrelated people in the area to be used for a STR and the maximum 

occupancy shall not include the owner and immediate family residing in the 

dwelling.” 

 

Commissioner Gordon seconded the motion.  

 

Chair Knowlton clarified that this item should be recommended to the City Council. 

 

Commissioner Ward amended his motion to say that the Planning Commission 

recommends approval to the City Council of the code amendments for short term rentals 

with the following change: 

 

1) Elimination on page 2 line 49-51 4B “maximum renter occupancy shall be no more 

than four (4) unrelated people in the area to be used for a STR and the maximum 

occupancy shall not include the owner and immediate family residing in the 

dwelling.” 

 

Commissioner Gordon seconded the amended motion. The motion was approved by 

Commissioners Knowlton, Garn, Kirkham, Ward, Tucker, Larson and Gordon.   

 

6. REPORT ON CITY COUNCIL ACTIONS ON ITEMS RECOMMENDED BY 

PLANNING COMMISSION 

 

Sherrie Llewelyn reported on Clint Thomas apartments and said the Council approved the 

general development plan and added a provision for access through the fence.  

 

Commissioner Gordon asked about the potential annexation of property currently located in Salt 

Lake County. Sherrie Llewelyn said that after a presentation some of the Council may be 

interested in annexing and that some residents in that area were also interested so that they could 

receive better services. She explained that the City did not want to force those residents who did 

not want to be annexed in and that until Salt Lake County allowed the annexation the whole 

issue was moot.  

 



City of North Salt Lake 

Planning Commission Meeting 

February 26, 2019 

Page 13  

 

Sherrie Llewelyn also spoke on the Cross E Ranch and what type of zoning would allow them to 

expand their business to allow for a restaurant, lodging, etc. She then said that some of the issues 

the Council and City had with the annexation were related to having two separate counties in the 

City.  

 

7. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

 

The Planning Commission meeting minutes of February 12, 2019 were reviewed and approved. 

Commissioner Tucker moved to approve the minutes from February 12, 2019 Planning 

Commission meeting. Commissioner Ward seconded the motion. The motion was approved 

by Commissioners Knowlton, Garn, Kirkham, Ward, Tucker, Larson and Gordon. 

 

8. ADJOURN 

 

Chair Knowlton adjourned the meeting at 8:53 p.m. 

 

 

 

_____________________________________  ____________________________________ 

Chair       Recorder 

 

 

 

____________________________________ 

Secretary 


